Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind

19.11 Lead-in periods for kittiwake breeding on Artificial Nesting Structures

Date: Nøvember 2024 Document Reference: 19.11

Revision: 1.0

Company:		Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind		Asset:		Whole Asset		
Project:		Wh	Whole Wind Farm		Sub Project/Package:		Whole Asset	
Documen or Descrip	t Title tion:	Lead-in periods for kittiwake breeding on Artificial Nesting Structures			res			
Internal Document Number:		PP1-ODOW-DEV-CS-REP-0239		3 rd Party Doc No (If applicable):		N/A		
Rev No.	Date		Status / Reason for Issue	Author	Checked by	Reviewed by Approv		Approved by
1.0	Novem 2024	ber	Draft	GoBe	Outer Dowsing	Shepherd and Wedderburn		Outer Dowsing

Table of Contents

Acronyms & Definitions	
Abbreviations / Acronyms	
Terminology	
Reference Documentation	6
Executive Summary	7
1 Introduction	9
1.1 Project Background	9
1.2 Document Purpose	9
2 Colonisation of Artificial Structures and the	Use of Lead-in Periods11
2.1 Kittiwake	
3 Over-compensating over the Lifetime of th	e Project13
3.1 Compensation Debt	
3.2 Compensation Scale	
3.3 Provision of Over-compensation	
3.4 Over-compensation due to Precaution	nary Assessments26
4 Precedent for a Reduced Lead in Time from	Natural England's Advised Four Years27
5 References	29

Acronyms & Definitions

Abbreviations / Acronyms

Abbreviation / Acronym	Description
AEol	Adverse Effect on Integrity
ANS	Artificial Nesting Structure
AON	Apparently Occupied Nest
CIMP	Compensation Implementation and Monitoring Plan
CRM	Collision Risk Modelling
DCO	Development Consent Order
FFC	Flamborough and Filey Coast
HRA	Habitats Regulations Assessment
KSCP	Kittiwake Strategic Compensation Plan
NMC	Non Material Change
ODOW	Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind
ORBA	Offshore Restricted Build Area
ORCP	Offshore Reactive Compensation Platform
RIAA	Report to Inform Appropriate Assessment
SoS	Secretary of State
SPA	Special Protection Area
UCI	Upper Confidence Interval
UK	United Kingdom
WTG	Wind Turbine Generator

Terminology

Term	Definition
The Applicant	GT R4 Ltd. The Applicant making the application for a DCO. The Applicant is GT R4 Limited (a joint venture between Corio Generation, Total Energies and Gulf Energy Development (GULF)), trading as Outer Dowsing Offshere Wind. The Project is being
	developed by Corio Generation (a wholly owned Green Investment Group portfolio company), TotalEnergies and GULF.
Compensation	Measures secured by the appropriate authority and taken to ensure that the overall coherence of the National Site Network is protected, following a finding of AEoI by a project on a particular qualifying feature of a European site and a derogation case.
Compensation debt	As colonisation of ANS, for example, or success of a compensation measure is likely to be gradual, a compensation debt may develop when the impact is occurring at a greater rate than the rate of compensation being delivered. Compensation debt must be offset over the lifetime of a project in order for compensation to be delivered effectively.

Examination

Term	Definition
Compensation	The amount of compensation needed, usually expressed in numbers of
requirement	breeding pairs.
Development Consent	An order made under the Planning Act 2008 granting development
Order (DCO)	consent for a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP).
Ecological lead-in period	The time required for the birds fledging from an ANS's first breeding
	season to attain adulthood.
Effect	Term used to express the consequence of an impact. The significance
	of an effect is determined by correlating the magnitude of the impact
	with the sensitivity of the receptor, in accordance with defined
	significance criteria.
Export Cables	High voltage cables which transmit power from the Offshore
	Substations (OSS) to the Onshore Substation (OnSS) via an Offshore
	Reactive Compensation Platform (ORCP) if required, which may
	include one or more auxiliary cables (normally fibre optic cables).
Habitats Regulations	A process which helps determine likely significant effects and (where
Assessment (HRA)	appropriate) assesses adverse impacts on the integrity of European
	conservation sites and Ramsar sites. The process consists of up to four
	stages of assessment: screening, appropriate assessment, assessment
	of alternative solutions and assessment of imperative reasons of over-
	riding public interest (IROPI) and compensatory measures.
Impact	An impact to the receiving environment is defined as any change to its
	baseline condition, either adverse or beneficial.
Landfall	The location at the land-sea interface where the offshore export cables
	and fibre optic cables will come ashore.
Lead-in period	The period between delivery of the ANS and commencement of
	operations.
Offshore Reactive	A structure attached to the seabed by means of a foundation, with one
Compensation Platform	or more decks and a helicopter platform (including bird deterrents)
(ORCP)	housing electrical reactors and switchgear for the purpose of the
	efficient transfer of power in the course of HVAC transmission by
	providing reactive compensation
Onshore Infrastructure	The combined name for all onshore infrastructure associated with
Offelseure Destruistend	the Project from landfall to grid connection.
Duild Area (OPPA)	offshare transformer substation or offshare accommodation platform
Build Area (ORBA)	shall be created
Outor Dowsing Offshoro	The Project
Wind (ODOW)	
The Project	Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind, an offshore wind generating station
	together with associated onshore and offshore infrastructure.
Strategic Compensation	Collaborative approach by developers and/or government
	departments to secure compensation for adverse effects on the
	conservation objectives of a Marine Protected Area.
Wind Turbine Generator	A structure comprising a tower, rotor with three blades connected at
(WTG)	the hub, nacelle and ancillary electrical and other equipment which
· -/	may include J-tube(s), transition piece. access and rest platforms.

Term	Definition
	access ladders, boat access systems, corrosion protection systems,
	fenders and maintenance equipment, helicopter landing facilities and
	other associated equipment, fixed to a foundation

Reference Documentation

Document Number	Title			
19.08	Levels of precaution in the assessment and confidence			
	calculations for offshore ornithology			
19.09	SNCB guidance and bioseasons for guillemot			
19.10	Rates of displacement in guillemot and razorbill			

Executive Summary

Following completion of the Report to Inform Appropriate Assessment for this Project (RIAA; AS1-095), the potential for an Adverse Effect on Integrity (AEoI) to the kittiwake feature of the Flamborough and Filey Coast (FFC) Special Protection Area (SPA) due to mortality from collisions with the wind turbine generators (WTG) in combination with other plans or projects cannot be ruled out. A full derogation case (APP-242) for kittiwake (from in-combination effects) has therefore been developed alongside appropriate compensation measures (APP – 249, APP-250, APP-256).

The draft Development Consent Order (DCO) provides for the construction of up to two offshore Artificial Nesting Structures (ANS) as part of the proposed compensation measures for the predicted effects on kittiwake. The use of offshore ANS as a compensation measure is being developed to compensate for the effects of the Project and aligns with The Crown Estate's Kittiwake Strategic Compensation Plan (KSCP, APP-260). ANS would be constructed to increase the annual recruitment of kittiwake into the regional population of the southern North Sea and therefore compensate for any losses at the FFC SPA.

The Applicant had proposed at paragraph 4(a)(iii) and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 22 of the draft DCO (PD1-024) that, where an ANS is proposed as compensation for kittiwake, the Project's Kittiwake Compensation Implementation and Monitoring Plan (CIMP) must include an implementation timetable for the delivery of the ANS that ensures that the structure is in place to allow for at least three full kittiwake breeding seasons prior to the operation of any turbine.

The Applicant considers that there is sufficient evidence to justify the reduction in the proposed time between implementation of the ANS and operation of any turbine to two full kittiwake breeding seasons. That evidence is set out in this Report. Paragraphs 3(d) and 4 of Part 2 of Schedule 16 of the Hornsea Four Offshore Wind Farm Development Consent Order 2023 were recently amended to reduce the length of time ANS need to be in place before operation from four full breeding seasons to two full breeding seasons. This reduction was agreed with Natural England as part of the Offshore Ornithological Engagement Group. The Applicant considers that a similar approach applies equally to the Project.

In Natural England's Relevant Representation (RR-045), Natural England advised that the "proposed lead in times to deliver...compensation to a level where it is providing the required ecological function are unlikely to be sufficient." This Report sets out the Applicant's evidence to support the timings proposed for delivery of compensation to be delivered through the construction of the ANS.

The draft UK Government guidance (*Best practice guidance for developing compensatory measures in relation to Marine Protected Areas, 22 July 2021, Defra*) states that compensation measures should ideally be in place and effective prior to the negative effect on a European site occurring, thereby protecting the overall coherence of the National Site Network. To date, Natural England has generally advised lead-in periods for ANS of 4 years based on the time required for the birds fledging from the first breeding season at the ANS to attain adulthood. The draft guidance also recognises that, in some cases, it may take several years for measures to be in place and fully functioning prior to the impact taking place and that therefore this may not be feasible.

At its core, the compensation provisions of the Habitats Regulations require that the Secretary of State secures that any necessary compensatory measures are taken to ensure that the overall coherence of the National Site Network is protected. Put another way, the impact on the relevant species predicted to arise from the Project must be offset by the end of the Project's operational life.

Whilst a longer lead-in period between the construction of the ANS and the operation of the Project will have the effect of reducing the predicted mortality which takes place in the early years of the Project's operation, the more important consideration is whether or not that mortality is offset throughout the Project's operational lifetime. This Report provides the evidence that the difference made by an additional lead in period of one or two years will be negligible in terms of the compensation delivered over the lifetime of the Project. The relevance of the precise lead-in period is reduced further still when the lifetime of the ANS is considered. Paragraph 7 of Part 1 and Part 2 of Schedule 22 of the DCO provides that the ANS must not be decommissioned without written approval of the Secretary of the State in consultation with Natural England and that, unless otherwise agreed, the ANS must be maintained beyond the operational lifetime of the development if it is colonised.

A more appropriate approach to delivering compensation is to design ANS that will deliver sufficient extra compensation over the lifetime of the project to offset the compensation debt built up as the colony develops. As such, delivery of Project scale compensation is best met through designing measures to over-compensate for predicted impacts over the lifetime of the Project and thus account for any compensation debt accrued, rather than through the implementation of a lead-in period.

Section 3 details, through the use of a realistic scenario growth model (in terms of ANS design and colonisation rates), how the cumulative output from ANS will reach the point of exceeding the cumulative requirement (covering scenarios based on the mean impact value prediction, with compensation at a 1:1 ratio calculated using the Hornsea Four method (the Applicant's approach) to the Upper Confidence Interval (UCI) impact value, calculated using the Hornsea Three stage two approach at a 3:1 ratio, the anticipated Natural England approach). Using the Applicant's approach on an ANS with 300 Apparently Occupied Nests (AONs) exceedance occurs at 13 years with no lead in time, at 9 years with a lead-in period of two years, at three years with a lead-in period of three years and at zero years (ie the commencement of operation) with a lead-in period of four years. Using Natural England's approach, exceedance occurs at 35 years with a two-year lead-in period, at 31 years with a three year lead-in period and at 29 years with a four year lead-in period. In the case of the Applicant's approach with an ANS with 300 AONs, the growth model shows that, over the anticipated 35-year lifetime of the Project, the compensation provided would outweigh the cumulative requirement by over 800 birds .

1 Introduction

1.1 Project Background

 GT R4 Limited (trading as Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind (ODOW)) hereafter referred to as the 'Applicant', is proposing to develop Outer Dowsing Offshore Wind (the Project). The Project will include both offshore and onshore infrastructure including an offshore generating station (windfarm) approximately 54km from the Lincolnshire coastline in the southern North Sea, export cables to landfall, Offshore Reactive Compensation Platforms (ORCPs), onshore cables, connection to the electricity transmission network, ancillary and associated development and areas for the delivery of up to two Artificial Nesting Structures (ANS) and the creation of a biogenic reef (see Volume 1, Chapter 3: Project Description (APP-058) for full details).

1.2 Document Purpose

- 2. Following completion of the Report to Inform Appropriate Assessment (RIAA) (AS1-095), the potential for an Adverse Effect on Integrity (AEoI) to the kittiwake feature of the Flamborough and Filey Coast (FFC) Special Protection Area (SPA) due to mortality from collisions with the wind turbine generators (WTG) in combination with other plans or projects cannot be ruled out. A full derogation case (APP-242) for kittiwake (from in-combination effects) has therefore been developed alongside appropriate compensation measures (APP-249, APP-250, APP-256).
- 3. The draft Development Consent Order (DCO) provides for the construction of up to two offshore ANS as part of the proposed compensation measures for the predicted effects on kittiwake. The use of offshore ANS as a compensation measure is being developed to compensate for the effects of the Project and aligns with The Crown Estate's Kittiwake Strategic Compensation Plan (KSCP, APP-260). ANS would be constructed to increase the annual recruitment of kittiwake into the regional population of the southern North Sea and therefore compensate for any losses at the FFC SPA.
- 4. The Applicant had proposed at paragraph 4(a)(iii) of Part 1 of Schedule 22 of the draft DCO (PD1-024) that, where an ANS is proposed as compensation for kittiwake, the Project's Kittiwake Compensation Implementation and Monitoring Plan (CIMP) must include an implementation timetable for the delivery of the ANS that ensures that the structure is in place to allow for at least three full kittiwake breeding seasons prior to the operation of any turbine.
- 5. The Applicant considers that there is sufficient evidence to justify the reduction in the proposed time between implementation of ANS and operation of any turbine to two full kittiwake breeding seasons. That evidence is set out in this Report. For Hornsea Four, paragraphs 3(d) and 4 of Part 2 of Schedule 16 of the Order were amended to substitute the relevant lead in period for the ANS from 4 full breeding seasons to two full breeding seasons. For Hornsea Three, Paragraphs 3(c) and 4 of Part 2 of Schedule 14 of the DCO have been amended on two occasions since the Order was first made. The effect of the two Non Material Change (NMC) requests was a reduction in the lead in period to 3 full kittiwake breeding seasons in respect of 3 ANSs and no lead in period for the final ANS.

- 6. These reductions were agreed with Natural England as part of the respective Offshore Ornithological Engagement Group and were accepted by the Secretary of State (SoS) in July 2024 (Hornsea Four²) and May 2024 (Hornsea Three)¹. The Applicant considers that a similar approach can be justified in relation to the Project.
- 7. The Applicant has submitted a Change Notification [REP1-038] at this deadline to amend the Order to reduce the length of time the proposed artificial nesting structure(s) for kittiwake needs to be in place before operation of the project from three full breeding seasons to two full breeding seasons. This document provides the ornithological justification for the proposed change. The Applicant also refers to its response to the ExA's First Written Questions, Q1 HRA 2.4 [Document 19.2].
- 8. With the aim of ensuring that ANS would provide adequate output prior to the adverse effect occurring, Natural England has requested a lead in period (the time prior to the effect occurring when compensation measures should be in place and effective) to allow young birds, fledged from the ANS, time to mature to breeding age; for kittiwake, the time to mature is on average four years (Horswill and Robinson, 2015). The draft DCO for the Project (submitted with the Application) states that the ANS measure must be implemented three full kittiwake breeding seasons prior to the operation of any turbine. However further recent precedent indicates that a period of two breeding seasons is appropriate. This is now the Applicant's position and the evidence for this position is set out in this Report.
- 9. A more appropriate approach to delivering compensation is to design ANS that will deliver sufficient extra compensation over the lifetime of the project to offset the compensation debt built up as the colony develops. As such, delivery of Project scale compensation is best met through designing measures to over-compensate for predicted impacts over the lifetime of the Project and thus account for any compensation debt accrued, rather than through the implementation of a lead-in period. Section 3 details, through a realistic scenario growth model (in terms of ANS design and colonisation rates), how the cumulative output from an ANS will reach the point of exceeding the cumulative requirement based on a range of scenarios covering the Applicant's approach and the anticipated Natural England approach. This growth model shows that over the anticipated 35-year lifetime of the Project, the compensation debt accrued as a result of predicted kittiwake collisions from the turbines can be exceeded through the provision of ANS within the design envelope of the project.

It should also be noted that the method used to assess the impacts of the Project to kittiwake and the way these impacts are apportioned to the FFC SPA, is precautionary and likely to result in over-compensation (Document 19.8 Levels of Precaution in the assessment and confidence calculations for Offshore Ornithology).

¹ EN010080-003697-H3 non material change decision letter final.pdf

²<u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN010098-002385-</u> Hornsea%20Four%20Non-Material%20Change%20-%20Decision%20Letter%20%5bsigned%5d%20-%2017%20July%202024.pdf

2 Colonisation of Artificial Structures and the Use of Lead-in Periods

10. Predicting the growth rate of a kittiwake colony on a new artificial site is challenging due to a lack of data on colonisation of remote, specifically designed artificial structures. However, growth patterns for kittiwakes at man-made sites appear to follow those seen at natural sites and therefore growth patterns at natural sites have been used in the analysis presented in this document.

2.1 Kittiwake

- For kittiwake, new colonies are usually formed by 3-20 young birds and, for the first few years', colony growth will be rapid, doubling in size each year during the first 2 to 4 years (Coulson, 2011). Following these initial years, colony growth will slow to a rate of approximately 10-20% per annum (Coulson, 2011; Kidlaw, 2005).
- 12. A tower with a capacity for over 140 nests constructed in Gateshead during the winter of 1997/98 was colonised by 18 apparently occupied nests (AON) during its first breeding season, rising to 131 AON in the third breeding season (Turner, 2010). A colony that established on a warehouse in North Shields, Tyne and Wear was started by 4 AON in 1949. This had risen to approximately 40 AON by 1958, and grew to approximately 105 AON by 1965, where it peaked (Coulson and Thomas, 1985).
- 13. For offshore ANS in areas where there are existing colonised offshore structures, as is the case for the ANS sites proposed by the Applicant, colonisation may be even more rapid as birds that have bred on, or were raised on, such structures are likely to encounter the ANS and may associate the habitat provided with that upon which they were reared.
- 14. Early growth of the colony is highly dependent on successfully attracting immigrants and prospective breeders. Since a relatively small proportion of young kittiwake (as few as 11%) remain at their natal sites (Coulson and Coulson, 2008), it is likely that strategic placement of an artificial structure would create high potential for the development of a new colony from dispersing individuals.
- 15. To date, lead-in periods have been expressed as a number of years, related to the maturation period of the species in question. Natural England have advised a lead-in period of more than three years for kittiwake (RR-045). It should be noted that, for example, an ecological lead-in period of less than four years for kittiwake (i.e. less than 48 months) can still cover 4 breeding seasons, and therefore still address the aim of mature birds being generated prior to commencement of the operational phase. Kittiwake colonies are occupied in May and young will begin to fledge in July. As such, an ecological lead-in period beginning in May of year 1 and ending in July of year 4 will cover four full breeding seasons but only cover 39 months. The four-year ecological lead-in period as advised by Natural England is therefore defined as four breeding seasons rather than four full years. The Applicant also notes that approximately 27% of kittiwake recruitment involves birds of three years old, compared to 35% of recruitment involving birds of four years old (Coulson, 2011).

- 16. The rationale for having a lead in period of four years that generates the required number of adult kittiwakes prior to the commencement of operations is reliant on the ANS being colonised to the required level in the first breeding season that the ANS is available. Colonisation rates at existing ANS suggest that this is unlikely.
- 17. Natural England's advice is that a lead in period of more than three years is preferred (RR-045)). If a four-year period is considered to be acceptable to secure the overall coherence of the National Site Network, and the difference with a two-year period is minimal in terms of the overall effectiveness of the measure when considering the predicted colony growth pathways, then a two-year period should also be acceptable.
- 18. This is particularly pertinent given that recruitment ages vary in kittiwake and a proportion of birds recruit before the age of four (26.5%, Coulson, 2011).

3 Over-compensating over the Lifetime of the Project

3.1 Compensation Debt

19. Compensation requirements are quantified as the number of adult birds that are needed to form enough breeding pairs to redress the reduced population at the impacted colony. As colonisation is likely to be gradual (see Section 2.2), a compensation debt may develop when the impact is occurring at a greater rate than the rate of compensation being delivered. The compensation debt can be defined as the cumulative annual shortfall of required adults generated by the ANS. The compensation debt is calculated by summing the annual compensation requirement over a given number of years and then subtracting the contribution. The contribution is calculated by noting the number of AONs (in this case the spaces available) on the structure, calculating the number of young to be generated by these AONs (either through direct monitoring of breeding success, or through application of published productivity rates), and then applying survival rates to the number of offspring that fledge to calculate a number of birds that survive to adulthood per year. This is then summed over the same period for which the annual compensation debt was summed. Compensation debt must be offset over the lifetime of a project in order for compensation to be delivered effectively.

3.2 Compensation Scale

20. The compensation required using the Applicant's approach (i.e., the mean impact value and the method used to calculate compensation for Hornsea Four ²at a 1:1 ratio) is 41 breeding pairs. The compensation required using the anticipated (but not yet confirmed) Natural England Approach (i.e., the Upper Confidence Interval (UCI) impact value and the 'Stage 2' method used to calculate compensation for Hornsea Three³ at a 3:1 ratio) is 801 breeding pairs. The compensation requirement for the growth curve graphs (Figures 1 to 10) has been calculated by summing the annual impact values. Outputs from AONs have been calculated using published rates for colony growth, survival across all age classes, and productivity (Horswill and Robinson, 2015); this approach aligns with that used to define colony growth within the Hornsea Three and Hornsea Four documentation⁴⁵, but the ODOW approach uses a very precautionary colony starting size (three pairs) (after Kildaw et al., 2005) and colony growth rate (15% after the first four years of growth). The colony growth rate and starting size are considered particularly precautionary given the proximity of the ANS to existing structures with well-established breeding colonies. The productivity rate used (1 bird per AON) is low compared to the median rate used by Hornsea Three (1.025 birds per AON) and very low compared with the productivity rate for birds not breeding for the first time as published in Horswill and Robinson (1.379 birds per AON). As such the Applicant considers the approach used to be suitably precautionary.

3.3 **Provision of Over-compensation**

21. The Applicant aims to ensure that over-compensation will occur over the lifetime of the Project, and that any compensation debt accrued at the beginning of the operational phase of the Project will be repaid. Most ANS compensation measures are designed to over-compensate and, over the lifetime of the Project, more adults will be generated than the number required for compensation. If suitable habitat exists near to an ANS, birds from a thriving colony may 'overspill' into other areas, allowing the colony to grow beyond the scale of the ANS and, as such, deliver compensation at an even higher rate than that required, and beyond the operational lifespan of the project.

² <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN010098-001040-</u> <u>Hornsea%20Project%20Four%20-</u>

<u>%20G1.41%20Calculation%20Methods%20of%20Hornsea%20Fours%20Proposed%20Compensation%20Measures%20f</u> or%20Features%20of%20the%20FFC%20SPA.pdf

³ <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010080/EN010080-003246-</u> HOW03-30Sep Appendix%202%20Kittiwake%20Compensation%20Plan%20(06543754 A).pdf

⁴ <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010080/EN010080-003691-</u> <u>Covering%20Letter%20and%20Application%20Document.pdf</u>

- 22. With the requirement that any ANS remain in place once the need for compensation has passed (Paragraph 7 of Part 1 and Part 2 of Schedule 22 of the DCO provides that the ANS must not be decommissioned without written approval of the SoS in consultation with Natural England and that, unless otherwise agreed, the ANS must be maintained beyond the operational lifetime of the development if it is colonised), the ANS colony will continue to generate new adults available for recruitment at the colony requiring compensation. Therefore, the ANS will continue to supplement colonies even after the Project has ceased to operate.
- 23. Figure 1 provides modelled growth based on an ANS limited to 300 AONs and shows that the cumulative output would exceed the cumulative requirement over the lifetime of the Project. Based on an annual impact of 15 adult birds (using the Applicant's approach including a mean impact value) and using published productivity, survival and dispersal rates to calculate the number of birds contributed, the compensation requirement and output can be compared. Note that 15 adult birds would require 41 breeding pairs using the Hornsea Four 1:1 approach (see paragraph 19). The model assumes a colony that grows in line with the basic colony growth parameters as laid out in Section 2.110 (i.e., assuming a minimum colonisation of three AONs, doubling for three years and a median growth rate of 15% after four years. This is a more precautionary approach (in terms of colony growth) than that used by Hornsea Three and Hornsea Four, and is considered a precautionary starting size due to the proximity of the ANS area to established offshore breeding colonies). Figure 1 shows that the cumulative requirement is surpassed by the cumulative output across all scenarios. Error! Reference source not found. gives the specific year after construction at which the cumulative requirement is surpassed by the cumulative.

Table 1. Years after construction at which the cumulative requirement is surpassed by the cumulative output under different lead-in and compensation ratio scenarios based on a structure hosting 300 AONs, using the Applicant's approach.

	Lead in Period			
Ratio	0	2	3	4
1:1	13	9	3	0
1:2	20	17	15	13
1:3	24	21	20	18



Figure 1. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 300 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios

24. For kittiwake, compensation debt can be calculated per year by subtracting the compensation requirement from the amount of compensation delivered. Summing the compensation debt over the lifetime of the Project informs whether, and over what time period, this debt has been addressed. If the cumulative debt at the project end is a negative number, then the debt has been compensated. In this case (with no lead-in, and with compensation at a 3:1 ratio (shown as a grey line in Figure2)), by year 15, a debt of 382.2 birds has built up (based on the Applicant's approach and the growth scenarios discussed in paragraph 24). However, from year 16 to 35, a surplus of 1254.8 is generated, leaving an overall surplus of 872.4 birds. This will be supplemented every year for the duration that the ANS exists beyond the 35 years modelled here.



Figure 2. Cumulative compensation debt over the lifetime of the Project for kittiwake at an ANS with 300 spaces and at a 1:1,1:2 and 1:3 compensation ratio.

- 25. Figure 3 to Figure 10 provide growth curves for kittiwake on ANS using a range of scenarios. Figure 3 to Figure 5 show growth curves assuming mean impact values and ANS with 400, 500 and 600 AONs; Figure 6 to Figure 10 show growth curves assuming UCI impact values and ANS with 300, 400, 500, 600 and 900 AONs (UCI impact values have been modelled in response to Natural England's Relevant Representation (RR-045)). The growth curves show that using the mean impact value, under all compensation ratio and lead-in scenarios, the cumulative output comfortably surpasses the cumulative debt for ANS with 300 AONs or more. Under the UCI impact scenarios, the compensation requirement at a 1:3 ratio is met within the lifetime of the project with a two year lead-in period on a colony that supports 500 AONs (Figure 8) and is comfortably surpassed on a colony that supports 900 AONs (Figure 10), although the Applicant notes that this represents a highly precautionary scenario.
- 26. The compensation requirements presented in the main document are based upon the impacts calculated following the introduction of the Offshore Restricted Build Area (ORBA). A set of growth curves using the impacts predicted within the RIAA (ie prior to the introduction of the ORBA) are presented in Annex 1. Similarly, these show that the cumulative output of the ANS passes the cumulative requirement for all scenarios modelled (ie 300, 400 and 500 AONs) when the mean impact value is used, and for ANS with greater than 500 AONs when the UCI impact value is used.



Figure 3. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 400 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 4. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 500 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 5. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 600 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 6. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 300 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 7. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 400 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 8. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 500 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 9. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 600 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.



Figure 10. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 900 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (following the introduction of the ORBA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios.

27. Calculating the scale of longer-term benefits is limited by the undetermined lifetime of the ANS (Paragraph 7 of Part 1 and Part 2 of Schedule 22 of the DCO provides that the ANS must not be decommissioned without written approval of the SoS in consultation with Natural England and that, unless otherwise agreed, the ANS must be maintained beyond the operational lifetime of the development if it is colonised). Should ANS remain at capacity, they will continue to deliver adults at the required rate annually and beyond the lifespan of the Project.

3.4 Over-compensation due to Precautionary Assessments

28. Compensating based on the impact value defined using the Applicant's approach (for kittiwake, the impact has been predicted as 15 birds per year) will result in over-compensation due to the elements of precaution that are introduced within the impact assessment, including precautionary inputs into Collision Risk Modelling (CRM), precautionary adult apportioning and precautionary proportioning of offshore breeders. The use of Natural England's approach adds further precaution through the use of UCI outputs from CRM leading to even greater levels of over-compensation. Further details regarding levels of precaution used in the impact assessment can be found in (Document 19.8 Levels of precaution in the assessment and confidence calculations for offshore ornithology)

4 Precedent for a Reduced Lead in Time from Natural England's

Advised Four Years

- 29. Other projects impacting kittiwake populations breeding at FFC SPA have had ANS compensation measures accepted that utilise lead in periods which are less than four years.
- 30. As discussed in Section 1, both Hornsea Three and Hornsea Four have successfully made nonmaterial changes to their respective DCOs with regard to the lead-in period required for an ANS. In both cases the SoS has agreed to allow the reduction of the lead in period required. In the case of Hornsea Four, a reduction from four to two breeding seasons was granted. Two nonmaterial changes were made to the Hornsea Three DCO, resulting in a total reduction from four full breeding seasons for all four required ANSs to three full breeding seasons for three of the ANSs and no lead-in period for the final ANS.
- 31. The rationale for the reduction in both cases was to ensure that project timelines were met, meaning delivery and operation of both windfarms were kept to schedule, and that both projects incurred no delay.
- 32. Both Hornsea Three and Hornsea Four presented evidence that making this change would not impact the overall delivery of compensation for kittiwake from ANS at the required rate, over the lifetime of the projects. Both projects presented this case alongside evidence that no additional land rights were required, and that the alteration to the required lead-in period had no material effect on Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) conclusions and resulted in no materially different environmental effects.
- 33. Part 2, Schedule 17 of the Sheringham Shoal and Dudgeon Extensions Offshore Wind Farm Order 2024 provides for three full breeding seasons to have passed before the operation of turbines⁶.
- 34. The Applicant notes that, during the Examination for the Sheringham Shoal and Dudgeon Extension DCO, Natural England stressed that lead in times for compensatory measures should be considered on a case-by-case basis.
- 35. There is no ecological justification for alignment with a four year lead in time when: a) there have now been several departures from that position which have been agreed by Natural England; and b) the Applicant has presented the evidence base which supports the inclusion of the lead in period of 2 breeding seasons, as set out in Part 1, Schedule 22 of the draft DCO and in this document.

⁶ <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010109/EN010109-002343-</u> SADEP%20DCO%20DESNZ%20170424.pdf

36. The Applicant considers that this position would also apply to the Project given that the compensation measures proposed will substantially overcompensate for negative effects over the lifetime of the Project, regardless of the lead in period. As such, in order to avoid delays to the overall timeline of delivery for the Project, a reduction in lead-in time for ANS from four years to two breeding seasons is proposed.

5 References

BirdLife International. (2019) 'Rissa tridactyla (amended version of 2018 assessment)', The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019, e.T22694497A155617539.

2023].

Accessed: April

Birds of Lundy. (accessed 03/10/2024)

Bull, J., Wanless, S., Elston, D., Daunt, F., Lewis, S., and Harris, M. (2004) 'Local scale variability in the diet of black-legged kittiwakes Rissa tridactyla', Ardea, 92/1: 43–52.

Chivers, L.S., Lundy, M.G., Colhoun, K., Newton, S.F., Houghton, J.D. and Reid, N. (2012) 'Foraging trip time-activity budgets and reproductive success in the black-legged kittiwake', Marine Ecology Progress Series. 456: 269-277.

Christensen-Dalsgaard, S., Langset, M. and Anker-Nilssen, T. (2019) 'Offshore oil rigs-a breeding refuge for Norwegian Black-legged Kittiwakes Rissa tridactyla?', Seabird, 32: 20-32.

Cleasby, I. R., Owen, E., Wilson, L., Wakefield, E. D., O'Connell, P. and Bolton, M. (2020) 'Identifying important at-sea areas for seabirds using species distribution models and hotspot mapping', Biological Conservation, 241: 108375.

Coulson, J.C. and Coulson, B.A. (2008) 'Measuring immigration and philopatry in seabirds; recruitment to Black-legged Kittiwake colonies'. Ibis, 150(2), pp.288-299.

Coulson, J.C. and Thomas, C.S. 1985. Changes in the biology of the kittiwake Rissa tridactyla: a 31year study of a breeding colony. Journal of Animal Ecology 54: 9-26

Coulson, J. C. (2011) 'The kittiwake.' T. and A. D. Poyser, London, U.K.

Cox, S., Embling, C. B., Hosegood, P. J., Votier, S. C. and Ingram, S. N. (2018) 'Oceanographic drivers of marine mammal and seabird habitat-use across shelf-seas: a guide to key features and recommendations for future research and conservation management', Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 212: 294-310.

Daunt, F., Benvenuti, S., Harris, M. P., Dall Antonia, L., Elston, D. A. and Wanless, S. (2002) 'Foraging strategies of the black-legged kittiwake Rissa tridactyla at a North Sea colony: evidence for a maximum foraging range', Marine Ecology Progress Series, 245: 239-247.

Descamps, S., Anker-Nilssen, T., Barrett, R. T., Irons, D. B., Merkel, F., Robertson, G. J., Yoccoz, N. G., Mallory, M. L., Montevecchi, W. A., Boertmann, D., Artukhin, Y., Christensen-Dalsgaard, S., Erikstad, K.-E., Gilchrist, H. G., Labansen, A. L., Lorentsen, S.-H., Mosbech, A., Olsen, B., Petersen, A., Rail, J. F., Renner, H. M., Strøm, H., Systad, G.H., Wilhelm, S. I. and Zelenskaya, L. (2017) 'Circumpolar dynamics of a marine top-predator track ocean warming rates', Global Change Biology, 23: 3770– 3780. Embling, C. B., Illian, J., Armstrong, E., van der Kooij, J., Sharples, J., Camphuysen, K. C. and Scott, B. E. (2012) 'Investigating fine-scale spatio-temporal predator–prey patterns in dynamic marine ecosystems: a functional data analysis approach', Journal of Applied Ecology, 49/2: 481-492.

Furness, R.W. and Tasker, M.L. (2000) 'Seabird-fishery interactions: quantifying the sensitivity of seabirds to reductions in sandeel abundance, and identification of key areas for sensitive seabirds in the North Sea,' Marine Ecology Progress Series, 202: 253-264.Harris, M.P., Blackburn, J., Budworth, D. and Blackburn, A.C. (2020). 'Sule Skerry–an overspill gannetry from Sule Stack', Seabird, 32: 96-105.

Hentati-Sundberg, J., Österblom, H., Kadin, M., Jansson, Å. and Olsson, O. (2012) 'The Karlsö Murre Lab Methodology Can Stimulate Innovative Seabird Research', Marine Ornithology, 40: 11-16.

Horswill, C. and Robinson R. A. (2015), 'Review of seabird demographic rates and density dependence', JNCC Report No. 552. Irons, D. B. (1998) 'Foraging area fidelity of individual seabirds in relation to tidal cycles and flock feeding', Ecology, 79/2: 647-655.

JNCC (2022), 'Seabird Monitoring Programme.' https://jncc.gov.uk/ourwork/seabirdmonitoringprogramme/ [Accessed: November 2023].

Kildaw, S. D. Irons, D. B. Nysewander, D. R. and Buck, C. L. (2005) 'Formation and growth of new seabird colonies: the significance of habitat quality.' Marine Ornithology 33:49-58.

Lavers, J., J. M. Hipfner, and G. Chapdelaine (2020). Razorbill (Alca torda), version 1.0. In Birds of the World (S. M. Billerman, Editor). Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY, USA.

Leopold, M. F. (1993) 'Het Friese Front: hydrografe, geologieenbiologie, met nadrukop de zeevogels'. Sula 7: 18.

Lewis, S., Sherratt, T. N., Hamer, K. C. and Wanless, S. (2001) 'Evidence of intra-specific competition for food in a pelagic seabird. Nature', 412/6849: 816-819.

Lloyd, C. S. and C. M. Perrins. (1977). Survival and age at first breeding in the Razorbill (Alca torda). Bird-Banding 48:239-252.

Markones, N. (2007) 'Habitat selection of seabirds in a highly dynamic coastal sea: temporal variation and influence of hydrographic features' (Doctoral dissertation, Christian-Albrechts Universität Kiel).

Markones, N., Guse, N., Hüppop, O., Garthe, S. (2009) 'Unchanging diet in a stable colony: contemporary and past diet composition of black-legged kittiwakes Rissa tridactyla at Helgoland, south-eastern North Sea'. Helgol Mar Res 63: 199–206.

Orsted. (2021a), 'Compensation measures for FFC SPA Offshore Artificial Nesting Ecological Evidence', Planning Inspectorate. <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN010098-000504-</u>

B2.7.1%20RP%20Volume%20B2%20Annex%207.1%20Compensation%20measures%20for%20FFC% 20SPA%20Offshore%20Artificial%20Nesting%20Ecological%20Evidence.pdf [Accessed: October 2024] Orsted. (2021b). 'Compensation measures for FFC SPA: Artificial Nesting: Site selection and Design.' <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-</u>

content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN010098-000508-

B2.7.5%20RP%20Volume%20B2%20Annex%207.5%20Compensation%20measures%20for%20FFC% 20SPA%20Artificial%20Nesting%20Site%20Selection%20and%20Design.pdf [Accessed: October 2024]

Orsted. (2021c). 'Hornsea Project Four: Without Prejudice Derogation Information. Volume B2, Chapter 9: Record of Consultation'.

https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wpcontent/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN 010098-000518-

B2.9%20RP%20Volume%20B2%20Chapter%209%20Record%20of%20Consultation.pdf [Accessed: November 2023]

Orsted. (2022). 'Compensation measures for FFC SPA: Kittiwake Offshore Artificial Nesting Roadmap.' Available at: <u>https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/ipc/uploads/projects/EN010098/EN010098-000512-</u> <u>B2.8.2%20RP%20Volume%20B2%20Annex%208.2%20Compensation%20measures%20for%20FFC%</u>

20SPA%20Bycatch%20Reduction%20Roadmap.pdf [Accessed: October 2024]

Pingree, R. D. and Griffiths, D. K. (1978) 'Tidal fronts on the shelf seas around the British Isles', Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans, 83/C9: 4615-4622.

Plumb, W.J. (1965) 'Observations on the breeding biology of the Razorbill', British Birds.

RSK Biocensus. (2022) 'Ornithological Monitoring Plan, July 2022'.

Skov, H. and Durinck, J. (1998) 'Constancy of frontal aggregations of seabirds at the shelf break in the Skagerrak', Journal of Sea Research, 39/3-4: 305-311.

Stockholm Resilience Centre. (2020) 'Artificial breeding site offers perfect platform for seabird observations.' https://www.stockholmresilience.org/research/research-news/2020-11-16-artificialbreeding-site-offers-perfect-platform-for-seabird-observations.html [Accessed November 2023].

The Black Guillemots of Cooper Island. (2021) 'Black Guillemots of Cooper Island technical documentation', United States Environmental Protection Agency. [Accessed November 2023].

The Crown Estate. (2022), 'Round 4 plan-level Habitats Regulations Assessment'.

[Accessed: October 2024].

Thompson, D. (2021) 'Advice Note Seabird Survey Methods for Offshore Installations: Black-legged Kittiwake', JNCC, Peterborough.

Turner, D. M. (2010) 'Counts and breeding success of Black-legged Kittiwakes Rissa tridactyla nesting on man-made structures along the River Tyne, northeast England, 1994-2009', Seabird, 23: 111-126.

Turner, D.M. (2018) 'Summary of Black-legged Kittiwake Rissa tridactyla breeding data recorded on the River Tyne, northeast England, during 2010–2019.'

Unwin, B. (1999) 'Birds breed on gas platforms.' The Independent,

[October: 2024].

Wakefield, E. D., Owen, E., Baer, J., Carroll, M. J., Daunt, F., Dodd, S. G., Green, J. A., Guilford, T., Mavor, R. A., Miller, P. I., Newell, M. A., Newton, S. F., Robertson, G. S., Shoji, A., Soanes, L. M., Votier, S. C., Wanless, S. and Bolton, M. (2017) 'Breeding density, fine-scale tracking and large-scale modelling reveal the regional distribution of four seabird species'. Ecology Applications, 27: 2074–2091.

Walsh, P. M., Halley, D. J., Harris, M. P., del Nevo, A., Sim, I. M. W., and Tasker, M. L. (1995) 'Seabird monitoring handbook for Britain and Ireland'.

Annex 1

Cumulative outputs from ANS compared to cumulative requirements for kittiwake based on impacts predicted in the RIAA.



Figure 11. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 300 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (as provided in the RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 12. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 400 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (as provided in the RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 13. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 500 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (as provided in the RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 14. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 600 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the mean impact value (as provided in the RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 15. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 300 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (using UCI outputs from CRM carried out at RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 16. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 400 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (using UCI outputs from CRM carried out at RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 17. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 500 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (using UCI outputs from CRM carried out at RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 18. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 600 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (using UCI outputs from CRM carried out at RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios



Figure 19. Cumulative outputs from an ANS with 900 AONs with 0, 2, 3 and 4 year lead in, and without lead in time, compared to cumulative requirement for kittiwake using the UCI impact value (using UCI outputs from CRM carried out at RIAA) expressed at 1:1, 1:2 and 1:3 ratios